#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No.: SC08-789 3DCA No.:3D06-2570

### LOUIS R. MENENDEZ, JR. and CATHY MENENDEZ,

Petitioners,

v.

## PROGRESSIVE EXPRESS INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, STATE OF FLORIDA

### PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert C. Tilghman, PA One Biscayne Tower 2 South Biscayne Blvd. Suite 2670 Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: 305-381-8806

Facsimile: 305-381-8813

Co-Counsel for Petitioners/Plaintiffs

#

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

#### The Facts

Petitioner, Cathy Menendez<sup>1</sup>, was injured in a motor vehicle accident on June 14, 2001. When the accident occurred, Cathy Menendez was on the job as an employee of the Monroe County School Board.

At the time of the accident Petitioners were both named insureds on a motor vehicle policy issued to them by Progressive with effective dates of April 1, 2001 to October 1, 2001. (R.3, 5)<sup>2</sup>. When Progressive issued its policy to Plaintiffs, neither the policy nor §627.736, Florida Statutes (2001) required a demand letter<sup>3</sup> as a condition precedent to an action seeking to recover overdue PIP benefits.

Cathy Menendez' medical bills were paid in part by Progressive<sup>4</sup> and, because she was on the job at the time of the accident, other medical bills were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the Petitioners will either be to the "Petitioners" collectively or to Cathy Menendez as "Cathy Menendez" individually. References to Respondent will be to "Progressive."

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the letter "R", followed by the page number(s) and paragraph numbers where appropriate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Subsection (11) is entitled Demand Letter and the body of the legislation refers to the demand letter as a "written notice of an intent to initiate litigation." Petitioners will refer throughout this brief to such a letter as a demand letter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In July and August of 2001 Progressive paid \$2,131.22 to four different medical providers for services rendered on June 14, 2001, leaving \$7,868.78 in available PIP benefits. (R.49).

paid by Monroe County School Board pursuant to Florida's Workers' Compensation Law. (R.48-49; R.99). Cathy Menendez was also paid \$5,139.00 for nine weeks of income she lost between June 15, 2001 and August 16, 2001. (R.104). On October 17, 2001, Petitioners settled a third-party personal injury claim arising out of the same motor vehicle accident for the tortfeasor's liability policy limits of \$10,000. (R.106-107). Monroe County School Board asserted a workers' compensation lien against the proceeds of the third-party settlement which Petitioners settled on or about March 4, 2002 for the total sum of \$2,000. (R.82; R.109-110).

A claim for additional PIP benefits from Progressive was made by Cathy Menendez in December of 2001 through Petitioners' counsel. (R.87). On February 4, 2002, Petitioners' counsel wrote to Progressive's claims manager advising that recent correspondence from Progressive failed to provide Cathy Menendez with the requested application for No-Fault Benefits. (R.86). On March 29, 2002, Petitioners' counsel again wrote to Progressive's claims manager to advise that Progressive had not responded to Cathy Menendez' claim for PIP benefits. (R.88). On April 9, 2002, Petitioners sent a certified letter to Progressive's claims manager again advising that Progressive had completely ignored Cathy Menendez' PIP claim and threatened suit if Progressive did not respond within five days. (R.88).

On April 15, 2002, a Progressive claims representative, Sandra Jones, wrote to Petitioners' counsel for the first time since the claim was made some six months earlier. That correspondence, instead of forwarding the PIP claim forms as requested by Petitioners' counsel or otherwise offering to facilitate Cathy Menendez' PIP claim, suggested only that Progressive was willing to reimburse Monroe County School Board for payments it had made to or on behalf of Cathy Menendez. (R.90). On April 20, 2002, Petitioners' counsel wrote to Progressive's claims representative advising that the worker's compensation lien had been satisfied by the Petitioners and that Cathy Menendez had incurred additional lost wages. (R.92). The April 20, 2002 letter further requested that Progressive immediately send a check in the amount of \$2,000 for the amount paid to satisfy the workers' compensation lien and make arrangements to pay PIP benefits for lost income. (R.92).

Having received no response to the April 20, 2002 letter, Petitioners' counsel sent another certified letter to Progressive on May 13, 2002 advising for the second time that, due to the lack of response, suit would be filed. (R.94). On June 4, 2002, Progressive's claim representative again wrote to Petitioners' counsel stating she had not yet determined the amount of workers' compensation benefits paid and thus could not determine how much Monroe County School

Board was entitled to be reimbursed. (R.95). Progressive's letter of June 4, 2002 did not provide PIP application forms or in any way acknowledge Cathy Menendez' right to recover PIP benefits. (R.95).

In addition to the written correspondence with Progressive, Petitioners' several telephone conversations with Progressive's counsel had claims representatives. (R.83, ¶¶4-5). During those conversations Petitioners' counsel advised the adjuster of the prevailing law that established Cathy Menendez' right to recover the \$2,000 paid to satisfy the workers' compensation lien under her PIP coverage. (R.83, ¶¶4-5). Throughout these conversations, Progressive's claims representatives consistently took the position that Cathy Menendez was not entitled to PIP benefits because she had received workers' compensation benefits. (R.83-84, ¶¶5, 10). With no further response from Progressive, suit was filed by Petitioners on November 26, 2002, nearly one year after Petitioners first presented their PIP claim to Progressive and six months after Progressive was provided evidence substantiating the satisfaction of the workers' compensation lien. (R.1-8; R. 92).

On June 19, 2001, Chapter 2001-271, Laws of Florida was signed into law, adding a new subsection (11) to §627.736. Subsection (11) required an insured claiming overdue PIP benefits to send a demand letter to the insurer as a condition

precedent to an action to recover those benefits<sup>5</sup>. Having already communicated with Progressive on several occasions, including several demand letters, and believing subsection (11) did not apply to their PIP claim, Petitioners did not send a formal demand letter before filing suit.

### The Case

In response to Petitioners' complaint, Progressive filed an answer asserting affirmative defenses, two of which are pertinent to the issues raised in this appeal:

- 4. In the alternative, the Plaintiff has failed to provide this Defendant with adequate notice of the alleged losses.
- 7. That Plaintiff has not provided reasonable proof of his/her losses as required by the Florida Statute 627.736.

(R.12). These defenses did not allege that Petitioners failed to send a demand letter or otherwise fail to comply with the requirements found in §627.736(11), Fla. Stat. (2001). Progressive filed a motion on June 30, 2003, seeking leave to amend its answer to add the affirmative defense that §627.736(11), Fla. Stat. (2001) governed this accident, and renewed that motion on March 8, 2004, but never had those motions heard by the trial court. (R.26-30; R. 63-7). Thus, Progressive never

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Although §627.736 has been amended several times since 2001, the demand letter remains as a condition precedent to filing suit. See, §627.736(10), Fla. Stat. (2008).

formally asserted the Petitioners' failure to comply with §627.736(11), Fla. Stat. (2001) as a defense.

Although Petitioners still did not believe §627.736(11) applied to their claim, out of an abundance of caution, they sent a demand letter to Progressive on November 3, 2003, while this action was pending. (R.112). Progressive has made no payment since receiving the demand letter.

Progressive filed a Motion for Final Summary Judgment and Motion for Attorney Fees on June 30, 2003 (R.31) and filed a Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Attorney's Fees on March 30, 2004. (R.68). Both motions made the argument that Progressive was entitled to summary judgment because Cathy Menendez failed to provide reasonable proof of her loss and failed to provide Progressive with a demand letter as required by §627.736(11), Fla. Stat. (2001). (R.31-32; R.68-69).

Petitioners filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Attorneys' Fees on October 22, 2004. (R.73). Petitioners argued, *inter alia*, that Progressive had waived its right to a reasonable proof of loss when it denied coverage and that \$627.736(11) did not apply to Cathy Menendez' PIP claim. (R.76-9). In support of their motion, Petitioners filed the affidavit of their counsel which outlined his direct communications with Progressive's claims representatives. (R.83, ¶4, 5).

Counsel's affidavit established that, prior to filing suit, Progressive's adjuster had repeatedly and consistently advised that Progressive was not obligated to pay PIP benefits to Cathy Menendez as she had received workers' compensation benefits. (R.82-84, ¶5,10). These same sworn facts had been presented to the trial court in Petitioners' verified Motion to Strike as Sham filed in July of 2003 after Progressive filed its first motion for final summary judgment. (R.40, ¶5, 10). Despite knowing of this sworn testimony at least two years before the hearing on the summary judgment motions, and despite having been represented by three separate law firms<sup>6</sup>, Progressive conducted no discovery to address the issue and filed no affidavit or other evidence to refute the Petitioners' evidence that Progressive had denied all responsibility for the payment of PIP benefits to Cathy Menendez.

The motions for summary judgment were argued before the trial court on July 20, 2005. (R.237). On September 27, 2005, the trial court entered an order denying Progressive's renewed motion for summary judgment and granting Petitioners' motion for partial summary judgment. (R.237-242). The trial court found that §627.736(11), Fla. Stat. (2001) did not apply to any part of Cathy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>During this period Progressive was represented by James T. Sparkman & Associates, Adams Blackwell & Diaco, P.A. and Vernis & Bowling of the Florida Keys, P.A. (R.33; R.122; R.143).

Menendez' PIP claim but, even if it did, Cathy Menendez was not required to deliver a presuit demand letter to Progressive because the unrefuted evidence established that Progressive had denied her claim. (R.239, 241). Progressive filed a motion for rehearing on January 12, 2006, which was denied by the trial court on January 24, 2006. (R. 243; R.247).

The case was subsequently set for jury trial on the issue of damages in August 2006. (R.263). Prior to the trial, the parties stipulated to the entry of a judgment in favor of Petitioners. (R.274). On September 18, 2006, the trial court entered the Stipulated Final Judgment wherein Petitioners were awarded damages in the amount of \$7,080.00, plus prejudgment interest in the amount of \$2,818.80. (R.276). Progressive filed its notice of appeal on October 12, 2006. (R.278).

On appeal, the district court reversed, finding that the presuit notice requirements of §627.736(11) did apply to Petitioners' claim for overdue PIP benefits and, because the amendments were merely procedural and did not alter contractual or vested rights, the retrospective application of §627.736 (11) did not unconstitutionally impair Petitioners' existing contract rights. The district court also found that, although Petitioners sent a written notice of intent after the suit was filed, such notice could have no legal effect unless the action was first dismissed and the complaint re-filed. The district court further found that a

question of fact remained as to whether Progressive denied the PIP claim thereby relieving the Petitioners of the requirement of sending a demand letter as a condition precedent to filing suit. Finally, the district court held that, on remand, Petitioners were barred from recovering benefits under the policy unless the jury were to find that Progressive had denied the claim.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

In their first two arguments on the merits Petitioners contend the decision of the district court is erroneous and in direct and express conflict with decisions of this court and of other district courts on two important issues of law. First, the district court held the presuit requirements of §627.736(11) were merely procedural and can be applied to existing policies of insurance without violating the constitutional prohibition against the impairment of contract rights. This court and other district courts have held that statutory amendments adding substantive changes, including changes imposing conditions precedent, tolling of the statute of limitations, and imposing fees and penalties, the same type of changes found in §627.736(11), cannot be applied retroactively without impairing contract rights and violating Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution. For that reason, the opinion of the district court should be quashed and the Stipulated Final Judgment in favor of Petitioners reinstated.

Second, this court and several district courts have held where an action is prematurely filed due to a failure to comply with conditions precedent, the failure to comply is not fatal to the claim so long as compliance occurs before the statute of limitations expires, even if compliance occurs during the pendency of the action. In conflict with these decisions the district court held compliance with conditions

precedent while an action is pending, even if the limitations period has not expired, is of no legal effect unless the action is first dismissed and the complaint re-filed, and thus recovery is barred. Petitioners contend this holding is erroneous and the opinion of the district court should be quashed and the Stipulated Final Judgment in favor of Petitioners reinstated.

The following two arguments were argued before the district court but not addressed in Petitioner's jurisdictional brief. These arguments are thus presented for the court's discretionary consideration.

In their third argument on the merits, Petitioners argue that, even assuming the 2001 amendments to §627.736, Fla. Stat. should generally be applied retroactively to existing policies, the Legislature did not intend the presuit requirements imposed by the amendments to apply to the benefits sought by Petitioners and thus a written demand was not required. Petitioners submit they were entitled to partial summary judgment and final judgment, and the reversal of said final judgment was erroneous.

And finally, in their fourth argument on the merits, Petitioners contend the district court erred in finding that a question of fact existed as to the denial of Petitioners' PIP claim. In support of their motion for partial summary judgment, Petitioners filed the affidavit of their counsel establishing that Progressive

unequivocally denied the PIP claim. Progressive filed no evidence to counter the affidavit. Thus, under the terms of §627.736(11)(a), Petitioners were relieved of the obligation to comply with statutory conditions precedent before filing suit. Petitioners submit the district court erred in concluding a question of fact existed and thus its opinion should be quashed and the Stipulated Final Judgment in favor of Petitioners reinstated.

#### **ARGUMENTS ON THE MERITS**

I. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO SECTION 627.736, FLA. STAT. (2001) TO INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED PRIOR TO EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE AMENDMENTS IMPAIRED OBLIGATIONS AND RIGHTS UNDER PETITIONERS' EXISTING CONTRACT IN VIOLATION OF FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONAL AND DECISIONAL LAW

The motor vehicle insurance policy issued by Progressive was a six month policy covering the period from April 1, 2001 to October 1, 2001. The addition of \$627.736(11) to Florida's No-Fault Act became effective on June 19, 2001, when the governor signed Chapter 2001-271, Laws of Florida into law. In support of the trial court's conclusion that the amendments did not apply to the subject policy, Petitioners argued before the district court that \$627.736(11), Fla. Stat. (2001) could not be applied to Petitioners' existing policy without impairing their existing contract rights in violation of Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution<sup>7</sup>. The district court disagreed, finding the application of \$627.736(11) to the PIP claim made under Petitioners' existing insurance policy was procedural in nature and did not alter any contractual or vested rights of the Petitioners. Petitioners respectfully

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>While the issue of impairment of contract rights was not raised before the trial court, a judgment should be affirmed if, upon the pleadings and evidence before the trial court, there is any theory or principle of law that will support the judgment, even if the issued was not argued before the trial court. *Dade County School Bd. v. Radio Station WQBA*, 731 So. 2d 638, 645 (Fla. 1999). The record below fully supports the application of this principle.

submit the amendments to Florida's No-Fault statutory scheme found in §627.736(11) are of the same nature as amendments this and other Florida courts have found to be substantive changes and refused to apply to existing contracts.

Florida has long recognized that the statute in effect at the time an insurance policy is issued governs the parties' substantive rights. Hassen v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co., 674 So. 2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1996). As this court has recognized, "where a contract of insurance is entered into on a matter surrounded by statutory limitations and requirements, the parties are presumed to have entered into such agreement with reference to the statute, and the statutory provisions become a part of the contract." Grant v. State Farm Fire and Cas. Co., 638 So 2d 936, 938 (Fla. 1994)(citations omitted). Similarly, substantive statutory changes that occur between policy renewals cannot be incorporated into existing policies. Hassen, supra; see also, Esancy v. Hodges, 727 So. 2d 308, 309-10 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)(changes in statutes that occur between policy renewals cannot be incorporated into an insurance policy without unconstitutionally impairing the parties' obligations); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Garrett, 550 So. 2d 22 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), rev. den., 563 So. 2d 631 (1990)(amendment to §627.736(7)(a) allowing insurer to terminate payments to medical providers did not apply to policy issued before effective date of amendment).

In determining whether statutory changes can be applied retroactively, this court has held that statutory changes that create new obligations, burdens or duties, or impose new penalties cannot be applied to existing insurance policies. *State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co. v. LaForet*, 658 So. 2d 55, 61 (Fla. 1995)(citations omitted). The application of such substantive changes to existing contracts results in an unconstitutional impairment of contract rights in violation of Article I, Section10 of the Florida Constitution. *State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co. v. Gant*, 478 So. 2d 25, 26-7 (Fla. 1985).

Subsection (11) of §627.736 added several new obligations, burdens and penalties that are of the same type that have been found to be substantive. First, subsections (11)(a) and (d) require the claimant, as a condition precedent, to provide a written notice of an intent to initiate litigation to the insurer before filing an action for overdue benefits<sup>8</sup>, and provide the insurer an additional seven business days within which to pay the overdue claim. Second, if payment is made within the seven business days, it shall include applicable interest<sup>9</sup> and a penalty of ten percent of the overdue amount paid, but not more than \$250.00. Third, subsection (11)(d) further provides that, if the insurer pays the overdue amount

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Benefits are overdue if they have not been paid within 30 days after the insurer is furnished written notice of the fact of a covered loss and of the amount of same. §627.736(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (2001).

within the seven business days, it cannot be sued for nonpayment or late payment and will no longer be exposed to attorney's fees for such overdue payments. Fourth, subsection (11)(e) provides that the statute of limitations is tolled for 15 business days following the mailing of the demand letter.

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