#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC08-789 L.T. Case No.: 3D06-2570

### LOUIS R. MENENDEZ, JR. and CATHY MENENDEZ,

Petitioners,

v.

## **PROGRESSIVE EXPRESS INSURANCE COMPANY,**

**Respondent.** 

On Discretionary Review From The District Court of Appeal, Third District of Florida

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Douglas H. Stein, Esq. Stephanie Martinez, Esq. Anania, Bandklayder, Baumgarten, Torricella &Stein 4300 Bank of America Tower 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131-2144 Telephone: (305) 373-4900 Facsimile: (305) 373-6914

Counsel for Respondent

# **

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Application of §627.736(11) to this case is in complete accord with the 1. mandates of the Florida constitution. Section §627.736(11) unambiguously requires that the claimant, prior to filing any lawsuit for benefits, must provide the insurer with a demand letter. Absent the demand letter, the lawsuit is premature. The legislative intent in enacting §627.736(11) was to place the insurer on notice of the claimant's intent to initiate litigation so that the insurer may pay the claim and avoid litigation. Here, Progressive was not provided with a pre-suit demand letter required by §627.736(11). Section 627.736(11) applies to Menendez's claim for wage loss notwithstanding that Petitioners entered into their insurance policy prior to the enactment of §627.736(11). Not only did the legislature expressly state that the statute applies retroactively, retroactive application of §627.736(11) is constitutionally permissible. Application of a statutory amendment only contravenes the constitutional prohibition against impairment of contracts when it changes the substantive rights of the parties to existing contracts. Petitioners did not have a vested contractual right to sue Progressive without first sending a demand letter. Section 627.736(11), as a "remedial" or "procedural" statute, does not alter vested rights, and did not deprive Petitioners of their substantive right to seek compensation from Progressive.

Accordingly, there is no constitutional bar to applying §627.736(11).

The fact that §627.736(11)(d) provides that, if the insurer complies with the demand letter and pays the demanded amounts, the insurer is not obligated to pay attorney's fees, is of no moment. Although, generally, a right possessed by an insured to an entitlement to attorney's fees is a substantive right, in the instant case Petitioners did not possess a right to an entitlement to fees. There are only two (2) grounds upon which a claimant can recover attorney's fees for prevailing against its insurer: (1) pursuant to §627.428(1) after filing suit and obtaining a judgment in its favor; and (2) by way of a confession of judgment when, after suit is initiated but before judgment is entered, the insurer pays the claim. An essential element for a confession of judgment to apply, however, is that litigation against the insurer be initiated and pending at the time that the insurer pays the claim. Thus, even before §627.736(11) was enacted, an insured had no claim to attorney's fees against an insurer absent the pendency of a lawsuit. By reiterating in §627.736(11) that a claimant does not have a claim for fees against an insurer who, prior to the initiation of litigation, complies with a demand letter and pays a claim, the legislature did not deprive or abridge any substantive right which the claimant might have had. One cannot be deprived of a substantive right which one did not possess in the first place.

2. Petitioner's post-suit demand letter, sent one (1) year after the commencement of the lawsuit, did not satisfy the requirements of §627.736(11), which requires that the claimant, prior to filing any lawsuit for benefits, provide the insurer with a demand letter. A "post-suit demand letter" does not satisfy the plain language or the purpose of §627.736(11), i.e. to put the insurance company on notice of an intent to initiate litigation on a PIP claim submitted as overdue so the insurance company can pay and avoid being sued. The purpose of §627.736(11) is simply not served by allowing post-suit "compliance." Petitioners' request of this Court to ignore the plain and unambiguous language of §627.736(11) requiring that the demand letter be sent **prior** to any litigation being initiated, is contrary to the long-settled principle of law that the plain language of a statute cannot be ignored because the primary source for determining legislative intent is the language chosen by the Legislature to express its intent. Pursuant to a plain reading of §627.736(11), Petitioners' post-suit demand letter did not satisfy the requirements of the statute.

3. The PIP benefits sought by Petitioners are benefits to which the requirements of \$627.736(11) apply. Petitioners' argument that \$627.736(11) does not apply because, it is "reasonable" to conclude that the \$2,000 lien satisfaction included payment for both medical expenses and lost income, fails for four (4) separate reasons: (1) for the

reasons set forth above, to the extent that the \$2,000 payment did represent bills for medical treatment, those claims were not properly submitted, thereby not triggering Progressive's obligation to pay; (2) not all of Petitioners' medical bills were incurred after October 1, 2001, and therefore those medical bills certainly were subject to §627.736(11); (3) there is no evidence in the Record as to how the \$2,000 settlement was allocated, or that any of the settlement was earmarked for payment of medical bills as opposed to lost wages, or other expenses; and (4) the Record belies Petitioners' contention that any of its claim against Progressive consisted of payments for medical treatment. Petitioners argument, *i.e.* that the June 19, 2001 date of the enacting legislation applies only to a claim for interest, is contrary to all rules of statutory construction. When the enacting legislation is properly read in conjunction with §627.736(11), although a demand letter is only required for claims for "treatment and services" occurring after October 1, 2001, a demand letter is required for any other claim, such as one for wage loss, when the lawsuit is filed after June 19, 2001, as Petitioners' was.

4. Contrary to Petitioners argument, Progressive did not deny Petitioners' claim. At the very least, as determined by the Third District, there is an issue of fact as to whether Progressive denied Petitioners' claim.

## **ARGUMENT**

## I. APPLICATION OF §627.736(11), FLA. STAT. (2001) TO THIS CASE IS IN COMPLETE ACCORD WITH THE MANDATES OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Florida Statute §627.736(11)(2001), entitled "Demand Letter," was enacted in

2001 and requires that:

As a condition precedent to filing any action for an overdue claim for benefits under paragraph (4)(b), the insurer must be provided with written notice of an intent to initiate litigation; provided, however, that, except with regard to a claim or amended claim or judgment for interest only which was not paid or was incorrectly calculated, such notice is not required for an overdue claim that the insurer has denied or reduced, nor is such notice required if the insurer has been provided documentation or information at the insurer's request pursuant to subsection (6). Such notice may not be sent until the claim is overdue, including any additional time the insurer has to pay the claim pursuant to paragraph (4)(b).

§627.736(11)(a), Fla. Stat. (2001).<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Subsection (4)(b) states, in relevant part, as follows:

Personal injury protection insurance benefits paid pursuant to this section shall be overdue if not paid within 30 days **after the insurer is furnished notice of the fact of a covered loss and the amount of same**.... However, notwithstanding the fact that written notice has been furnished to the insurer, **any payment shall not be deemed overdue when the insurer has reasonable proof to establish that the insurer is not responsible for payment**.

§627.736(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Section 627.736(11) further mandates that the "Demand Letter" contain very

specific information:

# The notice required shall state that it is a "demand letter under s.627.736(11)" and shall state with specificity:

1. **The name of the insured** upon which such benefits are being sought.

2. **The claim number or policy number** upon which such claim was originally submitted to the insurer.

3. To the extent applicable, the name of any medical provider who rendered to an insured the treatment, services, accommodations, or supplies that form the basis of such claim; and **an itemized statement specifying each exact amount**, the date of treatment, service, or accommodation, **and the type of benefit claimed to be due.** A completed Health Care Finance Administration 1500 form, UB 92, or successor forms approved by the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services may be used as the itemized statement.

§627.736(11)(b), Fla. Stat. (2001).

If, within seven (7) business days after receipt of notice by the insurer, the overdue claim specified in the notice is paid by the insurer together with applicable interest and a penalty of ten (10) percent of the overdue amount paid by the insurer, no action may be brought against the insurer, and the insurer is not obligated to pay any attorney's fees. §627.736(11)(d), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Accordingly, "[t]he statute unambiguously requires that the claimant, prior to

filing any lawsuit for benefits, must provide the insurer with a demand letter which must specify each exact amount, the date of treatment, service, or accommodation, and the type of benefit claimed to be due. Unless such requirements are met, the lawsuit is premature." *Physical Therapy Group, LLC a/a/o Harry Morales v. Mercury Ins. Co. of Fla.*, 13 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 889c, 890 (Miami-Dade Cty. June 2, 2006).<sup>4</sup>

The legislative intent in enacting §627.736(11), was to place the insurer on notice of the claimant's intent to initiate litigation so that the insurer may pay the claim and **avoid litigation**. *Progressive Express Ins. Co. v. Polynice*, 12 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 1015b (Fla. 9<sup>th</sup> Cir. Ct. July 18, 2005); *Hernandez v. Progressive Express Ins. Co.*, 14 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 232c (Fla. 11<sup>th</sup> Cir. Ct. Jan. 17, 2007). *See also, Progressive Express Ins. Co. v. Broussard*, 12 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 277b (Fla. 6<sup>th</sup> Cir. Ct. Dec. 6, 2004) (the plaintiff's failure to provide a demand letter deprived insurer of the opportunity to pay the claim and avoid litigation). "[A]dherence to the pre-suit notice requirement promotes the legislative goal of reducing unnecessary litigation, in part, to avoid the overburdening of the courts with actions that could be resolved before suit." *Physical Therapy*, 13 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. at 890.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Because PIP benefits are limited to \$10,000, §627.736(1), Fla. Stat. (2001), most PIP cases are filed in the County Court. Accordingly, the law regarding the PIP statute has, almost exclusively, been developed by County Court Judges and Circuit Court appellate panels.

Here, Progressive was not provided with a pre-suit demand letter required by §627.736(11) and, therefore, was not placed on notice of the covered loss, nor given a final opportunity to review the claim and avoid litigation. Nevertheless, Petitioners contend that §627.736(11) does not apply to Menendez's claim for wage loss because they entered into their insurance policy prior to the enactment of §627.736(11). Accordingly, Petitioners argue, any application of §627.736(11) would be a retroactive application impairing their contractual rights protected by Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution. That contention is meritless.

The question of whether a statute applies retroactively is a two-prong inquiry. The first inquiry is whether the legislature intended the statute to apply retroactively, which is best evidenced by any express command from the legislature. *Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Fed. Housing Corp.*, 737 So. 2d 494, 499-500 (Fla. 1999). In the instant case, that express command is quite evident. The enacting legislation accompanying §627.736(11) provides that:

[S]ubsection (11) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, shall apply to **treatment and services** occurring on or after October 1, 2001 . . .

and

[E]xcept that **subsection** (11) of section 627.736, Florida Statutes, **shall apply to actions filed on or after the effective date of this act with regard to a claim** or amended claim or judgment for interest only **which was not paid** or was incorrectly calculated. Ch. 2001-271, §11, Laws of Florida.

The effective date of the legislation, as correctly noted by Petitioners, was June 19, 2001. Thus, the legislature intended that §627.736(11) be retroactively applied, *i.e.* applied to various services and claims notwithstanding when the insurance policies from which those claims arise were entered into. Accordingly, the second inquiry becomes relevant, *i.e.* whether retroactive application of §627.736(11) is constitutionally permissible. *Metropolitan Dade*, 737 So. 2d at 499.

Petitioners argue that to apply the legislature's requirement of sending a demand letter in the instant case, when the insurance policy was issued prior to the enactment of §627.736(11), would unconstitutionally impair Petitioners' vested contractual right afforded by Article V, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution.<sup>5</sup> Although, as argued by Petitioners, the provisions of the Insurance Code are a part of the insurance contract, that does not necessarily mean that a vested contractual right is impaired by applying a subsequent amendment to the Insurance Code. Rather, application of a statutory amendment contravenes the constitutional prohibition against impairment of contracts **only** when it has the effect of "**changing the substantive rights** of the parties to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Petitioners' concern for Progressive and the affect that the imposition of a 10% penalty has on its constitutional rights, is appreciated but of no moment. (I.B. 19). The constitutional rights of Progressive are not at issue in this case.

existing contracts." *Manning v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 250 So. 2d 872, 874 (Fla. 1971). As widely held:

> A substantive vested right is an immediate right of present enjoyment, or a present fixed right of future enjoyment... To be vested[,] a right must be more than a mere expectation based on an anticipation of the continuance of an existing law...

Clausell v. Hobart Corp., 515 So. 2d 1275, 1276 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 1000 (1988).

In the instant case, the imposition of the notice requirement did not affect any vested contractual right. Petitioners cite no authority, and none exists, for their contention that they had a vested contractual right to sue Progressive without first sending a demand letter. At best, they may have had an expectancy, but that expectancy was subject to change. *See Romine v. Florida Birth Related Neurological Injury Compensation Ass 'n*, 842 So. 2d 148, 154 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA), *rev. denied*, 857 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 2003)(a mere expectation does not give rise to a vested right).

Section 627.736(11), as are all statutes which merely impose a pre-suit notice requirement, is "remedial" or "procedural" in nature. *See City of Coconut Creek v. City of Deerfield Beach*, 840 So. 2d 389 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003)(pre-suit notice requirement in action to enforce municipal comprehensive plan is "procedural"); *Sanchez v. Degoria*, 733 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003)(pre-suit notice requirement in §1983 action is

"remedial"); *Widmer v. Caldwell*, 714 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998)(pre-suit notice requirement in action against state is "procedural"). "[S]tatutes which do not alter contractual or vested rights but relate only to remedies or procedure are not within the general rule against retrospective operation and, absent a savings clause, all pending proceedings are affected." *Tejada*, 820 So. 2d at 390.

This case is very similar to *Campagnulo v. Williams*, 563 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1990), *quashed on other grounds*, 588 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1991), where in 1986, the plaintiff commenced a claim for dental malpractice which had accrued in 1984. The trial court entered summary judgment against the plaintiff on the basis that the plaintiff had failed to comply with the pre-suit notice requirements which had been enacted in 1985. The Fourth District affirmed that ruling, holding that:

the appellant's rights are not affected by the pre-suit requirements of the statute and therefore not subject to retroactive impairment. **The notice requirement did not affect appellant's right to bring a malpractice action or the value of that action if brought.** [The pre-suit notice statute] simply required appellant to file notice ninety days prior to the institution of a malpractice action.

*Id.* at 734-35 (citation omitted). *See also, Paley v. Maraj*, 910 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005)(pre-suit requirement in malpractice action is procedural and therefore applies even though action accrued prior to enactment of statute requiring affidavit).

That same principle applies here. Section 627.736(11) did not deprive

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